RECEIVED

11-16-2012

STATE OF WISCONSIN

CLERK OF SUPREME COURT OF WISCONSIN

IN SUPREME COURT

Case No. 2010AP2809-CR

STATE OF WISCONSIN,

Plaintiff-Respondent,

V.

MATTHEW A. LONKOSKI,

Defendant-Appellant-Petitioner.

On Review of a Decision of the Court of Appeals, District III,
Affirming a Judgment of Conviction
Entered in the Oneida County Circuit Court,
the Honorable Mark. A. Mangerson, Presiding

BRIEF AND APPENDIX OF DEFENDANT-APPELLANT-PETITIONER

ANDREW R. HINKEL Assistant State Public Defender State Bar No. 1058128

Office of the State Public Defender Post Office Box 7862 Madison, WI 53707-7862 (608) 267-1779 hinkela@opd.wi.gov

Attorney for Defendant-Appellant-Petitioner

ISSUES PRESENTED

I. Matthew Lonkoski was being interrogated in an interview room at the Sheriff's Department when he asked for a lawyer. Less than thirty seconds later, Mr. Lonkoski was informed that he was under arrest, and the interrogation then continued after a break of a few minutes. Was Mr. Lonkoski's request for a lawyer a valid invocation of his *Miranda* right to counsel, either because he was actually undergoing custodial interrogation when he made the request, or because custodial interrogation was imminent or impending?

The circuit court initially determined that Mr. Lonkoski had invoked *Miranda*, but later reversed itself.

The court of appeals did not decide this question.

II. As described above, after Mr. Lonkoski asked for a lawyer, he asked whether he was under arrest. One of the interrogating officers replied "You are now" and Mr. Lonkoski immediately agreed to continue the interrogation. Did the state show that it was Mr. Lonkoski, rather than the officers, who reinitiated the conversation, as *Edwards v. Arizona* requires?

The circuit court held that Mr. Lonkoski did not reinitiate the conversation.

The court of appeals held that Mr. Lonkoski did reinitiate the conversation.

STATEMENT ON ORAL ARGUMENT AND PUBLICATION

Both oral argument and publication are customary for cases decided by this court.

STATEMENT OF FACTS AND STATEMENT OF THE CASE

On the morning of May 4, 2009, Peyton L., aged approximately ten months, was found "purple and not breathing" by her parents, Matthew Lonkoski and Amanda Bodoh. (1:1). Medical personnel and law enforcement responded to the 911 call, and Peyton was declared dead at the scene. (1:1; 14:7). The following day, a Fond du Lac County medical examiner performed an autopsy. (14:15-17). Samples of Peyton's blood and urine were found to contain a "large amount" of morphine, and the urine sample also contained hydromorphone. (14:18, 21). The medical examiner concluded that Peyton had died of morphine toxicity. (14:22).

On May 22, an Oneida County Sheriff's detective asked Ms. Bodoh to come to the department for an interview. (26:7-8). Mr. Lonkoski accompanied her. (26:8). After speaking with Ms. Bodoh, the officers sent her to another room and brought Mr. Lonkoski into the interview room. (26:9). The interviewing officers were Detective Sara Gardner and Lieutenant Jim Wood. (26:5-6, 9). To get to the room, Mr. Lonkoski had to be escorted by Detective Gardner from the lobby, through a locked door, down a hallway, and into the interview room. (26:10-11). Once Mr. Lonkoski reached the room, the door was closed. (71:00:01:16).

The officers began to interrogate Mr. Lonkoski. The interrogation was video-recorded. (26:11). The circuit court reviewed this video before the suppression hearing and again afterward in reaching its initial decision to suppress the confession. (26:3; 60:2; App. 110). What follows is undersigned counsel's transcription of relevant portions of the interview as depicted by the video.

(Beginning at 00:01:07):

Lt. Wood: You want to have a seat over there? Do you know Sara?

Mr. Lonkoski: Yes.

Det. Gardner: Yeah very well. How are you?

Mr. Lonkoski: Very good. How have you been?

Det. Gardner: Well, better than you from what I hear's been going on.

Lt. Wood: Matt I'll, I'll close the door. You're not under arrest. You understand that you guys came here by yourself and we want to talk to you about Peyton and Peyton's death and, um, let you know about some of the, ah, findings from the autopsy and everything. I mean you're, you're the father, right?

¹ A copy of the video is included in the record on appeal and in this brief's appendix. (71; App. 147). The state also submitted a partial transcript of the video as an attachment to its brief in opposition to Mr. Lonkoski's suppression motion. (21:11-18; App. 139-146). Consistent with the circuit court's discussion, times noted are from the beginning of the video; i.e. the times reflected on the video player's timer while viewing the video, rather than the actual time of day of the interview, which is displayed in the lower left-hand portion of the video image. The times noted should be the same for the video copy in the appendix.

Mr. Lonkoski: Mm hmm. (Affirmative).

Lt. Wood: Are you okay talking to us?

Mr. Lonkoski: Yeah.

Lt. Wood: Okay, I've got the door closed just cause I don't want other people to hear and stuff okay? Um, what what has gone on since Peyton's death with you? How are you doin'?

At this point, the conversation turns to difficulties in Mr. Lonkoski's relationship with Ms. Bodoh. Beginning at 00:03:27:

Det. Wood: Did she talk to you a little bit about there was some things that she heard you'd been saying?

Mr. Lonkoski: Yes ... I went to, um, Monster Mart and the cashier heard a rumor that she supposedly suffocated her, and I'm like, I don't believe that one bit. I'm like, what?

For approximately the next twenty minutes, the officers ask Mr. Lonkoski for information regarding the events leading up to Peyton's death. Then, at 00:27:04, comes the exchange that is the basis of this appeal:

Lt. Wood: What should happen to somebody that did something to Peyton?

Mr. Lonkoski: Did Amanda do something to my daughter?

Lt. Wood: I didn't say Amanda did. Something happened to Peyton though that wasn't good.

Mr. Lonkoski: Well...

Lt. Wood: What should happen to a person?

Mr. Lonkoski: It all depends on what the situation is.

Lt. Wood: I mean mis ... sometimes mistakes are .. right? I mean that's possible.

Mr. Lonkoski: Yeah, um.

Lt. Wood: So is there room to forgive?

Mr. Lonkoski: There's – Oh wow, oh wow.

Lt. Wood: What do you think happened?

Mr. Lonkoski: I don't know what happened, I wasn't at the apartment.

Lt. Wood: Knowing, knowing um Matt, that doctors and, and all the technology that's out there today, and, and we know, we know a lot now what happened to Peyton. Now I'm looking to you to find out how much of will you tell me?

(00:28:00)

Mr. Lonkoski: What? I'm sorry, the last bit I did not hear you a bit. I'm – this is just shocking.

Lt. Wood: Something bad happened to Peyton, and the doctors know exactly what it is, and I'm looking for you who loves your child, this is your baby right?

Mr. Lonkoski: Yes.

Lt. Wood: And you're telling me that there's a little room for forgiveness for people?

Mr. Lonkoski: Ah, oh wow. What, and I, um, if they intentionally did it I would put them in prison.

Lt. Wood: Okay. What if it wasn't intentional, what if it was some of ... just maybe poor parenting skills or something or...

Mr. Lonkoski: Are you telling me that rumor I heard was true?

Lt. Wood: What rumor?

Mr. Lonkoski: That I told you from the person that told me at the gas station.

Lt. Wood: No, no. The autopsy shows that Peyton died of an overdose.

Mr. Lonkoski: An overdose? Of what?

Lt. Wood: Now that's – I'd like for you to try and help me out a little bit.

(00:29:00)

Mr. Lonkoski: All I know is when I got back to the apartment, Amanda told me she gave, um, Peyton baby Tylenol. The bottle of baby Tylenol you guys seen when you guys went into the apartment was on top of the...

Lt. Wood: Not the baby Tylenol, I know. It's morphine.

Mr. Lonkoski: What?

Lt. Wood: Morphine.

Mr. Lonkoski: What?

Lt. Wood: Morphine.

Mr. Lonkoski: Oh my god.

Lt. Wood: What did you say to Peyton when you said goodbye to her that day out when I was out there and you went out to the truck before they took her away ... what'd you say to her?

Mr. Lonkoski: I said that I love her and I would be by her soon.

Lt. Wood: And that you were sorry?

Mr. Lonkoski: Sorry for her passing away.

Lt. Wood: There's, there's more to it. And that's, and again Matt, it this is a very hard thing. A hard thing for you as a, as a pop, and, and, this is your baby, but you gotta, you got to dig deep inside yourself now. The autopsy knows what happened. We know what happened. What I need from you is I need you to look up and look in your heart and look up at Peyton and say, say okay, I can deal with it. I can, I can talk open...

Mr. Lonkoski: Are you accusing me of giving my daughter morphine?

Det. Gardner: Matt, Matt, look at me. Every time you and I have talked, okay, and we go back a long way, all right, there's been some rough stuff that you and I have dealt with...

(00:30:30)

Mr. Lonkoski: I want a lawyer. I want a lawyer now. This is bullshit.

Lt. Wood: Okay.

Mr. Lonkoski: I would never do that to my kid, ever. I wasn't even at the apartment at all except at night. Why are you guys accusing me?

Lt. Wood: I didn't accuse you.

Det. Gardner: We were just asking.

Mr. Lonkoski: There is this is is is is is is is is insane.

Lt. Wood: I have to stop talking to you though 'cause you said you wanted a lawyer.

Mr. Lonkoski: Am I under arrest?

Lt. Wood: You are now.

Mr. Lonkoski: Then I'll talk to you without a lawyer... I, I don't want to go to jail, I didn't do anything to my daughter, I would not lie to you guys – this is in fact life or death.

Lt. Wood: Well, now you, now you complicate things.

Mr. Lonkoski: I just, I just want to leave here and go by my mom now because this is in- this is, this is insane.

Det. Gardner: Matt we can't, we can't talk to you just because you don't want to go to jail okay some things that we wanted to talk to you about were like Jim said – we know what happened to Peyton – we need to know a couple of the gaps to fill the gaps.

Mr. Lonkoski: All right...

Det. Gardner: (Unintelligible).

Mr. Lonkoski: Ask those gaps.

Det. Gardner: That's what we want you to talk to us

about

Mr. Lonkoski: Ask those gaps.

Det. Gardner: But I don't want you to feel like we're

accusing you.

Mr. Lonkoski: All right. I will calm down.

Det. Gardner: I don't – you don't have to talk to us –

okay.

Mr. Lonkoski: Can can I can we go smoke a can I smoke a cigarette when we do this?

Lt. Wood: What we're gonna do is – I'm gonna come back and, and again you have to be careful what you say...

Mr. Lonkoski: (Unintelligible).

Lt. Wood: If you want an attorney – you can have an attorney – we're gonna quit – what I'll do is I'll come back to you – go have a cigarette with Sara.

Mr. Lonkoski: Okay thank you.

Lt. Wood: Okay and I need to get more of the story.

Mr. Lonkoski: I will tell you everything I promise on my dead daughter's life and my (unintelligible) right now.

Lt. Wood: What I'm, what I'm gonna do is I'm gonna come back and I'll read you a *Miranda* card which is I'll read you your rights...

Mr. Lonkoski was eventually escorted from the room to smoke a cigarette and to use the bathroom. (71:00:34:07, 00:39:50). During Mr. Lonkoski's absence from the room, Lt. Wood can be heard on the telephone talking to a lawyer in the district attorney's office about whether it is permissible to continue the interrogation.

When Mr. Lonkoski, Det. Gardner, and Lt. Wood returned to the room, Lt. Wood read the *Miranda* rights to Mr. Lonkoski, and Mr. Lonkoski agreed to answer further questions. (71:00:41:57). The two officers interrogated Mr. Lonkoski over approximately two more hours that day. (71). Mr. Lonkoski eventually made incriminating statements.

Mr. Lonkoski was held in jail for the next four days, and was interrogated again. (1:2). During the second interrogation, Mr. Lonkoski made further incriminating statements, telling the officers that Peyton had picked up and ingested a morphine tablet that he had placed on a coffee table. (1:2-3).

Mr. Lonkoski was charged with first-degree reckless homicide. (1:1). He moved to suppress his statements and all evidence derived therefrom. (20:1).

After the parties filed briefs on the motion, (21; 22), the court held an evidentiary hearing. (26). The court heard argument and scheduled another hearing to announce its decision. (26:18-32, 34).

At the decision hearing, held January 19, 2010, the court ruled that because Mr. Lonkoski had requested an attorney and the interrogation had not ceased, all statements made after the request were inadmissible under *Edwards v. Arizona*, 451 U.S. 477 (1981). (60:5-7; App. 113-15).²

Mr. Lonkoski submitted an order to effectuate the court's decision, to which the state objected. The state complained that the order stated that Mr. Lonkoski had been in custody at the time of his request for counsel, while the trial court had not explicitly made such a finding. (25; 31). Mr. Lonkoski responded with a brief arguing that he was in custody at the time of the request. (33). The state also filed a motion for reconsideration, arguing that the court had erred in holding that the officers were required to "cease" their interrogation after Mr. Lonkoski asked for counsel, because

² This transcript appears twice in the record as compiled, as items 23 and 60.

he had immediately reinitiated conversation with the officers. (35; 36).

On February 15, 2010, the court announced that it was reversing its earlier decision. It held that because Mr. Lonkoski had been told he was in custody a few seconds after he asked for an attorney, this request did not suffice to invoke his right to counsel. (61:10-11; App. 126-27). The court also held that Mr. Lonkoski did not "clearly claim" his right to counsel because he immediately afterward signaled that he wished to keep talking to the officers. (61:11-12; App. 127-28).

Eventually, Mr. Lonkoski pleaded guilty to reduced charges: one count of recklessly causing great bodily harm to a child, and one count of child neglect resulting in death. (62:4). The court sentenced him to 5 years of initial confinement and 5 years of extended supervision on the first count, and 12 years of initial confinement and 5 years of extended supervision on the second. (46; App. 137).

Mr. Lonkoski appealed, asserting that he had validly invoked his *Miranda* right to counsel and that the officers' response to that invocation amounted to further interrogation. The court of appeals affirmed. It declined to decide whether Mr. Lonkoski's request for a lawyer had been an effective invocation of his *Miranda* right, instead holding that there had been a "clear break" in the interrogation and that Mr. Lonkoski had reinitiated the conversation before voluntarily waiving his *Miranda* rights. *State v. Lonkoski*, No. 2010AP2809-CR, 2012 WL 130505 (Wis. Ct. App. Jan. 18, 2012) (unpublished), ¶¶4, 7-10; (App. 105-07). Mr. Lonkoski petitioned for review, and this court granted the petition. Order of October 17, 2012, *Lonkoski*, No. 2010AP2809-CR.

ARGUMENT

I. Standard of Review and Summary of Argument.

It is the state's burden to show by a preponderance of the evidence that a confession is voluntary. *State v. Jerrell C.J.*, 2005 WI 105, ¶17, 283 Wis. 2d 145, 699 N.W.2d 110. The burden also rests with the state to show police compliance with *Miranda*, including on the issue of whether custodial interrogation occurred. *State v. Armstrong*, 223 Wis. 2d 331, 347-51, 588 N.W.2d 606 (1999).

Whether a defendant's *Miranda* rights were violated presents a question of constitutional fact. This court upholds the trial court's factual findings unless clearly erroneous, but independently applies the constitutional standard to the facts found. *See State v. Karow*, 154 Wis. 2d 375, 385, 453 N.W.2d 181 (Ct. App. 1990). The facts relevant to this appeal are not in dispute. As such, whether the police acted in accord with the constitution is a question of law for de novo review. *State v. Cunningham*, 144 Wis. 2d 272, 282, 423 N.W.2d 862 (1988).

Miranda v. Arizona, 384 U.S. 436 (1966), imposes two sets of constitutionally-derived rules on custodial interrogations. An interrogating law enforcement officer must provide the suspect with prescribed information about his or her rights and the potential consequences of forgoing them – the famous Miranda warnings. Id. at 444. Miranda also requires officers to honor the invocation of those rights – that is, to cease (or not to commence) interrogation if a suspect asserts the right to remain silent or the right to counsel. Id. at 445.

Mr. Lonkoski unambiguously asked for an attorney after about a half-hour of questioning. The first issue in this case is whether that request was an effective invocation of the *Miranda* right to counsel.

A person undergoing custodial interrogation may assert his *Miranda* rights. Custodial interrogation has two components: custody and interrogation. There is no dispute that Mr. Lonkoski was being interrogated when he asked for an attorney, but the state submits that he was not in custody at that time.

The state errs. Mr. Lonkoski was in custody when he requested a lawyer. Though he went to the sheriff's department voluntarily, by the time of his request for counsel the interrogators had conveyed to him that they knew, and could prove, that he was responsible for Peyton's death. Under the circumstances it was apparent to everyone, including Mr. Lonkoski, that he was not going to be allowed to leave the station.

Further, even if Mr. Lonkoski was not in custody at the instant he asked for a lawyer, a person need not be actually undergoing custodial interrogation to invoke the *Miranda* counsel right. A person may also do so when custodial interrogation is imminent or impending. Assuming for the sake of argument that Mr. Lonkoski was not actually undergoing custodial interrogation at the moment of his request, custodial interrogation was imminent.

The second issue in the case is whether the officers responded lawfully to Mr. Lonkoski's assertion of his *Miranda* right to counsel. *Miranda* states that on a suspect's invocation of the right to counsel, all interrogation must cease; *Edwards* held that interrogation may occur afterward only where the suspect, rather than the police, reinitiates conversation and voluntarily waives the *Miranda* rights.

Here, the officers did not respond to Mr. Lonkoski's request for a lawyer by ceasing interrogation. Rather, they placed him under arrest in a manner suggesting that this arrest was the result of his request for a lawyer. The gambit worked; Mr. Lonkoski withdrew his request and agreed to keep talking. This is exactly what *Edwards* prohibits, and the violation negates any claim of reinitiation by the defendant.

II. Mr. Lonkoski's Clear Request for a Lawyer When He Was Either Undergoing Custodial Interrogation or Facing Imminent Custodial Interrogation Was a Valid Invocation of His *Miranda* Right to Counsel.

In *Miranda*, the Supreme Court announced that before any custodial interrogation of a suspect, the interrogating officers must inform the suspect of the rights to silence and to counsel, as well as the fact that any statements given may be used against the suspect in court. 384 U.S. at 467-73. The court went on:

Once warnings have been given, the subsequent procedure is clear. If the individual indicates in any manner, at any time prior to or during questioning, that he wishes to remain silent, the interrogation must cease. At this point he has shown that he intends to exercise his Fifth Amendment privilege; any statement taken after the person invokes his privilege cannot be other than the product of compulsion, subtle or otherwise. ... If the

individual states that he wants an attorney, the interrogation must cease until an attorney is present.

Id. at 473-74.3

As the above quotation demonstrates, a suspect actually undergoing custodial interrogation may invoke the right to counsel. There is no dispute that Mr. Lonkoski was undergoing interrogation when he asked for a lawyer, but the state has maintained that he was not in custody.

A suspect is in custody when "a reasonable person [would] have felt he or she was not at liberty to terminate the interrogation and leave" and where there was either a "formal arrest or restraint on freedom of movement of the degree associated with a formal arrest." *Thompson v. Keohane*, 516 U.S. 99, 112 (1995) (citations omitted). This determination is made by examining the totality of the circumstances. See *State v. Gruen*, 218 Wis. 2d 581, 593, 582 N.W.2d 728 (Ct. App. 1998).

The circumstances in this case include the following. Mr. Lonkoski was in a room in a part of the Sheriff's Department inaccessible to the public. (26:10-11). The door to this room was closed. (71:00:01:16). In the room along with Mr. Lonkoski were two Sheriff's officers. (26:5-6, 9). As the video shows, this room was small enough for three people to render it crowded. (71).

Mr. Lonkoski was clearly not in custody at the beginning of the interview. Lt. Wood informed him upon

³ The Court later clarified that the request for counsel need not come after the giving of warnings to be effective, as the above passage might suggest. A request for counsel may be made before or during the reading of the *Miranda* rights. *Smith v. Illinois*, 469 U.S. 91, 97 n.6 (1984).

meeting him that he was not under arrest; obviously this is a pertinent fact bearing on whether a person would consider him- or herself to be in custody. (71:00:01:18). Further, the initial interrogation consisted of, as the circuit court noted, "open-ended," non-accusatory questions. (61:4-5; App. 120-21). However, the first few minutes of the interview are not the relevant time period; the question is whether Mr. Lonkoski was in custody when he asked for a lawyer.

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