RECEIVED

12-19-2012

STATE OF WISCONSIN CLERK OF SUPREME COURT IN SUPREME COURT

No. 2010AP2809-CR

STATE OF WISCONSIN,

PLAINTIFF-RESPONDENT,

V.

MATTHEW A. LONKOSKI,

DEFENDANT-APPELLANT-PETITIONER.

REVIEW OF A DECISION OF THE COURT OF Appeals, District III, Affirming A Judgment Of Conviction Entered In The Circuit Court Of Oneida County, The Honorable Mark A. Mangerson, Presiding

BRIEF OF THE PLAINTIFF-RESPONDENT

J.B. VAN HOLLEN Attorney General

WARREN D. WEINSTEIN Assistant Attorney General State Bar #1013263

Attorneys for Plaintiff-Respondent

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

ARGUMENT

I. THIS COURT SHOULD DECLINE LONKOSKI'S INVITATION TO ADOPT AN "IMMINENT CUSTODY" RULE.

A. BACKGROUND LAW AND SUMMARY OF THE STATE'S POSITION.

In *Miranda v. Arizona*, 384 U.S. 436, (1966), the United States Supreme Court held that:

the prosecution may not use statements, whether exculpatory or inculpatory, stemming from custodial interrogation of the defendant unless it demonstrates the use of procedural safeguards effective to secure the privilege against self-incrimination.

Id. at 444. *Miranda* defined "custodial interrogation" to mean "questioning initiated by law enforcement officers after a person has been taken into custody or otherwise deprived of his freedom of action in any significant way." *Id.*

"[A]n individual held for interrogation must be clearly informed that he has the right to consult with a lawyer and to have the lawyer with him during interrogation \ldots ." *Id.* at 471. The Court provided these warnings to counter-balance the inherently coercive nature of custodial interrogation. Once an individual in custody invokes his right to counsel, interrogation "must cease until an attorney is present"; at that point, "the individual must have an opportunity to confer with the attorney and to have him present during any subsequent questioning." *Id.* at 474. *See also Minnick v. Mississippi*, 498 U.S. 146, 150 (1990).

In Edwards v. Arizona, 451 U.S. 477, 484-85, (1981), the Court held that an accused who has expressed a desire to deal with the police only through counsel, is not subject to further interrogation by the authorities until counsel has made available unless the been accused himself/herself initiates further communication, exchanges, or conversations with the police. Without this initiation "a valid waiver of ... right[s] cannot be established by showing only that [the accused] responded to further policeinitiated custodial interrogation even if he has been advised of his rights." Id. at 484.

In State v. Hambly, 2008 WI 10, 307 Wis. 2d 98, 745 N.W.2d 48, this court held that in order for the State to establish that a suspect validly waived his or her Fifth Amendment *Miranda* right to counsel after effectively invoking it, the State must: (1) show as a preliminary matter the suspect initiated further communication, exchanges, or conversations with the police; and (2) the suspect voluntarily, knowingly, and intelligently waived counsel. *Id.* ¶¶ 68-70. Accord, State v. Stevens, 2012 WI 97, ¶ 54, 343 Wis. 2d 157, 822 N.W.2d 79.

Lonkoski argues the lower courts erred in refusing to suppress his two inculpatory statements to detectives. He reasons that he was "in custody" when he demanded a lawyer even though he had not been formally arrested. He invites this court to adopt an "imminent custody" rule. He claims to have been "in custody" because custody was "imminent." In his view, since the police did not honor his request by ceasing their interview, the first statement should have been suppressed under *Miranda* and *Edwards*. Even though Lonkoski signed a waiver of his *Miranda* rights, he reasons that waiver was ineffective under *Edwards*. The second statement should also have been suppressed on the same grounds.

As the State will more fully develop below, Lonkoski's invitation to adopt an "imminent custody" rule is contrary to the United States Supreme Court's *Miranda* cases. It also conflicts with *Hambly* and the holdings of the Court of Appeals. Lastly, it finds no theoretical support in the *Miranda* rationale and presents an insurmountable practical problem.

B. UNITED STATES SUPREME COURT CASES PRECLUDE AN IMMINENT CUSTODY RULE.

As noted above, *Miranda* defines custodial interrogation as "questioning initiated by law enforcement officers *after* a person has been taken into custody or otherwise deprived of his freedom of action in any significant way." *Miranda*, 384 U.S. at 444 (emphasis added). Cases following *Miranda* make two things clear: (1) "freedom of action in any significant way" means more than freedom to terminate the interview and leave; and (2) "imminent custody" would untether custody from *Miranda's* rational.

In *Beckwith v. United States*, 425 U.S. 341 (1976), two Internal Revenue Service Intelligence Division agents interviewed Beckwith in his home.

The agents were investigating a possible criminal tax fraud case. Id. at 342-43. The Court observed "[i]n subsequent decisions [after Miranda] the Court specifically stressed that it was the Custodial nature of the interrogation which triggered the necessity for adherence to the specific requirements of its Miranda holding. Id. at 346 (citing Orozco v. Texas 394 U.S. 324 (1969) (involving questioning in a suspect's home after he had been arrested and was no longer free to go where he pleased); and *Mathis v. United States*, 391 U.S. 1 (1968) (involving questioning about federal tax fraud in a state jail by federal agents). Beckwith argued that he was the "focus" of a criminal investigation and that the agents' placed him under "psychological interview restraints." The Court rejected this argument. It held, "Miranda implicitly defined 'focus,' for its purposes. as 'questioning initiated by law enforcement officers after a person has been taken into custody or otherwise deprived of his freedom of action in any significant way." Beckwith, 425 U.S. at 347 (quoting Miranda, 384 U.S. at 444).

In Oregon v. Mathiason, 429 U.S. 492 (1977), a police officer tried to contact Mathiason after a home owner speculated he burglarized her house. Mathiason was on parole. The officer left his card at Mathiason's apartment indicating he to "discuss something" wanted with him. Mathiason called the officer and arranged a meeting at the State Patrol office. At the station house, the officer met Mathiason in the hallway and told him he was not under arrest. The interview took place behind a closed door. The officer further advised Mathiason that his truthfulness would possibly be considered by the district attorney or judge. He then falsely stated police had found Mathiason's fingerprints at the scene. Id. at 493. After referencing the Miranda's definition of custodial interrogation, the Court found "no indication that the questioning took place in a context where [Mathiason's] freedom to depart was a restricted in any way." Id. at 495. The Court observed, "[s]uch a noncustodial situation is not converted to one in which Miranda applies simply because a reviewing court concludes that, even in the absence of any formal arrest or restraint on freedom of movement, the place in questioning took ล *'coercive* environment." Id.

In California v. Beheler, 463 U.S. 1121 (1983), Danny Wilbanks killed Peggy Dean when she refused to surrender her hashish to Wilbanks, Beheler and several acquaintances. Beheler called police and told them Wilbanks had killed Dean. Later that evening, Beheler voluntarily agreed to accompany police to the station house. Police specifically told him he was not under arrest. At the station house, Beheler agreed to talk to police. Police did not advise him of his *Miranda* rights. The interview lasted approximately thirty minutes. Beheler was permitted to leave but was arrested five days later in connection with the Dean murder. After being advised of his Miranda rights, he waived them and gave a second confession. Id. at 1122.

The Court again began by quoting the meaning of "custodial interrogation" from *Miranda. Id.* at 1123. It then held it to be "beyond doubt that Beheler was neither taken into custody nor significantly deprived of his freedom of action.

Indeed, Beheler's freedom was not restricted in any way whatsoever." *Beheler*, 436 U.S. at 1123.

In Stansbury v. California, 511 U.S. 318 (1994), a ten-year-old girl disappeared from a playground. The next morning, Zimmerman observed a large man emerge from a turquoise American sedan and throw something into a flood control channel. Police discovered the girl's body in the channel. From other witnesses police discovered the girl had talked to two ice cream truck drivers, one being Stansbury. Police initially focused on the other driver. However, three plainclothes officers went to Stansbury's trailer home and requested he accompany them to the police station as a witness. Stansbury agreed and road to the station in the front seat of a police car.

Two officers questioned Stansbury about his whereabouts and activities on the day the girl disappeared. Neither officer advised Stansbury of his *Miranda* rights. Stansbury admitted speaking to the victim after which he claimed he went home. He told the officers that about midnight he left his trailer home in his housemate's turguoise American-made car. This detail aroused the officers' suspicions since the housemate's car matched Zimmerman's description of the car he had observed. When Stansbury admitted to prior convictions for rape, kidnapping, and child molestation, the questioning officers terminated the interview and different officers advised Stansbury of his *Miranda* rights. Stansbury declined to make any further statements and requested an attorney. At that point he was arrested. Id at 319-21.

Stansbury filed a motion to suppress his statements which the trial court denied holding he was not "in custody" and not entitled to *Miranda* warnings until he mentioned the turquoise car. *Id.* at 321. The Court again began by quoting its definition of "custodial interrogation." As important to this case, the court observed,

An officer's obligation to administer *Miranda* warnings attaches, however, only where there has been such a restriction on a person's freedom as to render him in custody.... In determining whether an individual was in custody, a court must examine all of the circumstances surrounding the interrogation, but the ultimate inquiry is simply whether there was a formal arrest or restraint on freedom of movement of the degree associated with a formal arrest.

Id. at 322 (internal quotation marks and citations omitted).

More recently, in *Montejo v. Louisiana*, 556 U.S. 778 (2009), the Supreme Court considered the viability of the rule announced in *Michigan v. Jackson*, 475 U.S. 625 (1986). According to the majority of the *Montejo* Court, "*Jackson* represented a 'wholesale importation of the *Edwards* rule into the Sixth Amendment." *Montejo*, 556 U.S. at 787 (citing *Texas v. Cobb*, 532 U.S. 162, 175 (2001)). The *Montejo* court observed,

Montejo also correctly observes that the *Miranda-Edwards* regime is narrower than *Jackson* in one respect: The former applies only in the context of custodial interrogation. *If the defendant is not in custody then those decisions do not apply*; nor do they govern other, noninterrogative types of interactions

between the defendant and the State (like pretrial lineups).

Id. at 795 (emphasis added).

Finally, in *Maryland v. Shatzer*, ____ U.S. ____, 130 S.Ct. 1213 (2010), the court considered whether a break in custody ends the presumption of involuntariness established in *Edwards*. *Id*. at 1217. The court observed about *Edwards*: "In every case involving *Edwards*, the courts must determine whether the suspect was in custody when he requested counsel and when he later made the statements he seeks to suppress." *Id* at 1223.

These cases lead to the inevitable conclusion that without custody, *Miranda* warnings are not applicable. Lonkoski's argument that this court should adopt an "imminent custody" rule is untenable in view of the Court's requirement that custody is necessary for *Miranda* rights to attach.

It is also apparent from these cases that the Court's test for the custody component requires "restraint of freedom of movement of the degree associated with a formal arrest." *Stansbury*, 511 U.S. at 322. "Our cases make clear, . . . that the freedom-of-movement test identifies only a necessary and not a sufficient condition for *Miranda* custody." *Shatzer*, 130 S.Ct. at 1224.

Moreover, the inclusion of "restraint of freedom of movement of the degree associated with a formal arrest" in the definition of "custody," would seem to obviate the need for an "imminent custody" rule. If, as Lonkoski claims, his freedom was restricted "to the degree associated with a formal arrest" prior to his formal arrest, he was "in custody" under *Miranda's* current, longstanding definition despite the fact that the detectives here did not communicate their decision to formally arrest him until after he requested a lawyer.

> C. THIS COURT'S HAMBLY DECISION AND DECISIONS OF THE COURT OF APPEALS PRECLUDE AN IMMINENT CUSTODY RULE.

This Court has, like the United States Supreme Court, held that an accused must be in custody for *Miranda* rights to attach. *State v. Koput*, 142 Wis. 2d 370, 380, 418 N.W.2d 804 (1988); *State v. Armstrong*, 223 Wis. 2d 331, 344-45, 588 N.W.2d 606 (1999).

In State v. Hassel, 2005 WI App 80, 280 Wis. 2d 637, 696 N.W.2d 270, Hassel was not in custody at the time he asked to remain silent in response to questions from law enforcement officers. He was arrested the following day. *Id.* $\P\P$ 2-3. The Court of Appeals observed that the *Miranda* safeguards apply only to custodial interrogations. Therefore, Hassel was not entitled to invoke *Miranda* during his earlier interview. *Id.* \P 9.

In State v. Kramer, 2006 WI App 133, 294 Wis. 2d 780, 720 N.W.2d 459, an incident occurred on March 7, 2003, in which Kramer shot and killed one police officer and shot at another officer over the course of a standoff after Kramer threatened a work crew attempting to trim trees on or near his property. *Id.* ¶¶ 2-3. On appeal, Kraemer contended statements he made while in

police custody following the standoff must be suppressed under *Miranda* and *Edwards* because he requested an attorney during the standoff and police subsequently questioned him in the absence of counsel. *Id.* ¶ 6. Citing *Hassel*, the *Kraemer* Court held "the *Miranda* safeguards apply only to *custodial* interrogations." *Id.* ¶ 9 (emphasis the court's).

The Hambly Court observed, "Kramer and Hassel govern a suspect who is not in custody during police interrogation. The cases stand for the rule that a person who is not in custody cannot anticipatorily invoke a Fifth Amendment Miranda right to counsel or right to remain silent." Hambly, 307 Wis. 2d 98, ¶ 41. The observation in *Hambly* is in keeping with State v. Grady, 2009 WI 47, ¶ 18, 317 Wis. 2d 344, 766 N.W.2d 729, where this Court stated, "It is true that *Miranda* necessitates the administration of the warnings only after custody, and that precustodial warnings are not required." Id. ¶ 18. The Grady court rejected a claim that Miranda warnings given in a noncustodial interview were per se ineffective. Id. ¶ 25. The *Hambly* concurring opinion differs with the majority only over whether a person who is concededly in custody can invoke *Miranda* rights prior to actual interrogation. Thus, Hambly adopts the position the Court of Appeals declared in Kramer and Hassel.

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